
 
 

 

Team Devon  
Local Outbreak 

Engagement Board 

 

TEAM DEVON (LOCAL OUTBREAK ENGAGEMENT BOARD) 
 

Thursday, 23rd September, 2021 
 

A meeting of the Team Devon (Local Outbreak Engagement Board) is to be held on 
the above date at 2.00 pm.  
 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence   

2 Notes of the Previous Board Meeting - 15 April 2021  (Pages 1 - 8) 

3 Urgent Items from the Health Protection Board   

 The Director of Public Health to report on any urgent matters 
 

4 Report / Presentation from the Health Protection Board   

 A Report from the Health Protection Board on current issues, data and matters for 
information, including; 
 

 Data and statistics on COVID 19 cases (Simon Chant) 

 Schools and Testing Regimes and a Safe Return (Steve Brown) 

 Return of Students to University (Chris Lindsay) 
 

5 Devon as an Enhanced Response Area   

 The Director of Public Health to provide an update on what it means for Devon to be 
designated an Enhanced Response Area. 

 
6 Local and National Updates   

 The Director of Public Health to provide an update on relevant matters including the 
COVID 19 autumn and winter plan. 

 
 
 
 
 



7 NHS / CCG Update   

 Update on matters impacting on the NHS and CCG, to include; 
 

 Hospital activity including number of patients; 

 Vaccine programme for 12-15 year olds; 

 Booster vaccine programme; and 

 Flu vaccine programme. 

 
8 Devons Economy - Recovery and Impacts  (Pages 9 - 38) 

 Devon County Council’s Head of Economy and Skills to present. 
 
A Report and Summary of key issues is attached.  

 
9 Public Questions / Other Questions for the Board   

10 Key Messages to be Communicated   

 The Board and Head of Communications and Media to consider any key 
messages to be communicated. 
 

11 Date of Next Meeting   

 Scheduled for 21 October 2021 @ 2pm 
 

 
 



 

Membership  

 
Councillors J Hart (Chair), A Leadbetter (Vice-Chair), R Croad and J McInnes 
 
Co-opted Members 
 
D Crump (VCSE DSP Rep), T Gravett (Healthwatch), Dr P Johnson (Devon Clinical Commissioning Group), 
Dame S Leather (Independent Chair of STP), Chris Lindsay (Director of Compliance, Governance & Risk 
University of Exeter ), S MacKney (Petroc), Dr Louise McAllister (Devon Community Resilience Forum), 
Councillor D Norden (Representing District Councils), R Roberts (Visit Devon), S Sawyer (Chief Constable 
of Devon & Cornwall Police), C Stobart (Devon Association of Local Councils (Towns & Parish Councils)) 
and S Wilkinson (Devon Federation of Small Businesses) 
 

Access to Information 

 
Any person wishing to know any further information about the meeting including minutes, reports or 
background papers should contact Karen Strahan or Stephanie Lewis on 01392 382264. 
 

Internet 

 
Agendas and minutes of this Board are published online on the Council’s Website  
 

Webcasting. Recording or Reporting of Meetings and Proceedings 

 
The proceedings of this meeting may be recorded for broadcasting live on the internet. For more 
information go to:http://www.devoncc.public-i.tv/core/ 
 
In addition, anyone wishing to film part or all of the proceedings may do so but we would ask that this is 
done as unobtrusively as possible, focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting and having 
regard also to the wishes of any member of the public present who may not wish to be filmed.   
 
Members of the public may also use Facebook and Twitter or other forms of social media to report on 
proceedings at this meeting.  
 

If you need a copy of this Agenda and/or a Report in another format 
(e.g. large print, audio tape, Braille or other languages), please contact 
the Customer Service Centre on 0345 155 1015 or email: 
committee@devon.gov.uk or write to the Democratic and Scrutiny 
Secretariat in G31, County Hall, Exeter, EX2 4QD. 
 

 
Induction loop system available 
 

http://www.devoncc.public-i.tv/core/
mailto:committee@devon.gov.uk


 



1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Decision and Action log 
 
TEAM DEVON (LOCAL OUTBREAK ENGAGEMENT BOARD)  
 
Date Thursday, 15 April 2021 
 
Present 
Councillor John Hart, Councillor Andrew Leadbetter, Tony Gravett, Dr Paul Johnson, Councillor James McInnes, Cara Stobart, Sue 
Wilkinson, Diana Crump, Rhys Roberts, Louise McAllister, Hannah Reynolds, Tina Henry, Dan Evans, and Councillor David Worden 
 
Apologies 
Councillor Roger Croad, Steve Brown, Phil Norrey and Dame Suzi Leather 
 
 

No. Decision/Action/Message 
 
 
 

Who Will 
Communicate / 

action? 

When? 

 

Team Devon  

Local Outbreak 

Engagement Board 

 

P
age 1

A
genda Item

 2



 

 

2 

 

No. Decision/Action/Message Who Will action? When? 

31.   Notes of the Previous Board Meeting - 11 March 2021 
 
The notes of the previous Board meeting on 11 March 2021 were endorsed. 

  

    

32.   Urgent Items from the Health Protection Board 
 
The Deputy Director of Public Health advised that there were no urgent items for 
escalation from the Health Protection Board. 

  

    

33.   Report / Presentation from the Health Protection Board 
 
The Board received a Report from the Health Protection Board on current issues, 
data and matters for information.  
 

Matters included in the Report were as follows: 
 

 Easing of lock down – a reminder that social distancing rules still applied: 
Hands, Face, Space and Fresh Air 

 Mixing indoors was still not allowed – outdoor only 

 Small number of outbreaks – predominantly in workplaces, it was important 
to keep messages ongoing around facemasks and hand washing etc  

 Local Zero – DCC was working with the national test and trace system, 
which allowed them to take cases from day 1. This meant further support 
could be given to those individuals that had to self-isolate and helped to 
identify early signs of outbreaks.  

 Nationally case numbers had been decreasing (2,491 daily – further drop of 
11.5% over the past week), as were the number of deaths (38 daily) and 
people in hospital (15% drop in the past week), and testing remained very 
high. 

  

P
age 2

A
genda Item

 2



 

 

3 

 

No. Decision/Action/Message Who Will action? When? 

 Local Picture: Devon had 58 cases in the past week, (7.2 per 100,000 
population with the National average at 28.2). There had been 0 deaths 
recorded in the last week (0 per 100,000 compared to 0.2 nationally).  

 Trends – age profile: there had been a decrease across all age categories 
including in the 80+ category.  

 Would continue to monitor data as national restrictions eased.  

 Small outbreaks that were occurring had happened mainly in workplaces – it 
was important to continue to work from home where possible. 

 
The data shown during the presentation was available at:  
 
DCC Covid-19 Dashboard: Coronavirus dashboard and data in Devon - 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) 
 
National Coronavirus Tracker: Daily summary | Coronavirus in the UK  
(data.gov.uk) 
 
National Coronavirus Interactive Map: Interactive Map |  
Coronavirus in the UK (data.gov.uk) 

    

34.   Local and National Updates 
 
The Board noted the National easing of restrictions from 12 April.  

  

    

35.   Vaccination Update 
 
The Board received an update from the Chair of Devon CCG outlining the following:  
 

  

P
age 3

A
genda Item

 2

https://www.devon.gov.uk/coronavirus-advice-in-devon/coronavirus-data/
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/details/interactive-map


 

 

4 

 

No. Decision/Action/Message Who Will action? When? 

Vaccinations were now being offered to the 45-49 age category – the take up of 
appointments had been extremely good which showed the keen take up of people 
across the County to receive the vaccination; there were no major concerns around 
vaccination hesitancy. Over 650,000 people had received the first dose of the 
vaccine, and 1 in 10 adults had both vaccinations. The Moderna vaccine was now 
available in Devon as well – meaning all 3 vaccinees were available.  
 
Hard to reach communities – work was ongoing to access vulnerable communities 
and distribute information about the vaccines.  A bus was going out to vaccinate 
harder to reach groups.  Engagement was also ongoing with communities where 
uptake would traditionally be quite low.  
 
Astra Zeneca vaccine – data suggested a possible slight increase in potential 
thrombosis, about 4 in every million which was extremely low. The benefits of 
receiving the vaccine far outweighed this small risk. Research was ongoing to study 
the effect in the younger age category under 30s. The Pfizer and Moderna vaccines 
were being offered to those under 30.  
 
Discussion points with Members included: 
 

- Hard to reach communities – potential challenge about communicating 
information in a fast paced and changing environment around vaccinations 
in multiple languages and easy read versions, for vulnerable communities.  

    

36.   Testing Update 
The Board received an update from the Deputy Director of Public Health around 
new testing measures, including national twice weekly testing offered for all adults 
across the country. New messages and communications would be going out to 
promote this. 

  

P
age 4

A
genda Item

 2



 

 

5 

 

No. Decision/Action/Message Who Will action? When? 

 
A fully mobile solution would be offered to facilitate community testing, with five 
vans currently serving 21 locations across Devon. These can also be used for 
community collect to take tests home. Will continue with the Community model until 
end of June and will be consistently monitored and reviewed. Pharmacies were 
also available for collecting home testing kits.  
 
Information regarding the locations of the mobile community testing sites could be 
found at https://www.devon.gov.uk/coronavirus-advice-in-devon/book-a-covid-19-
lateral-flow-test/ 
 
Further information about asymptomatic lateral flow testing in Devon was available 
on the Devon County Council website at devon.cc/testing 

    

37.   Economic Reopening and Tourism 
 
The Board discussed the national easing of restrictions from 12 April and the safe 
reopening of the tourism and hospitality sectors.  The Council continued to work 
with partners and national groups to aid the safe reopening of businesses, including 
national campaigns and the Local Resilience Forum, highlighting areas such as 
dog waking, wild camping and second homes. Further work continued on 
communicating the opportunity to support the hospitality sector in running safe 
summer events.  
 
Police update – the bank holiday weekend post restrictions easing had generally 
seen compliance with guidelines around the max of 6 people mixing.  The busiest 
area was Exmouth, with a large number of groups of 6 congregating on the beach.  
Communications with the community, schools and colleges had been conducted to 
provide messages around the guidelines - no enforcement tickets were given, 

  

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 2

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.devon.gov.uk%2Fcoronavirus-advice-in-devon%2Fbook-a-covid-19-lateral-flow-test%2F&data=04%7C01%7C%7Cd9624fcbc6cb4c90858f08d8fffc7eee%7C8da13783cb68443fbb4b997f77fd5bfb%7C0%7C0%7C637540807207647118%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=iN%2FtF7mQAVJVcll4njDfNuKWyNa%2BMK8OqLAX28YqcAw%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.devon.gov.uk%2Fcoronavirus-advice-in-devon%2Fbook-a-covid-19-lateral-flow-test%2F&data=04%7C01%7C%7Cd9624fcbc6cb4c90858f08d8fffc7eee%7C8da13783cb68443fbb4b997f77fd5bfb%7C0%7C0%7C637540807207647118%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=iN%2FtF7mQAVJVcll4njDfNuKWyNa%2BMK8OqLAX28YqcAw%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.devon.gov.uk%2Fcoronavirus-advice-in-devon%2Fdocument%2Fcoronavirus-testing-in-devon%2F&data=04%7C01%7C%7Cd9624fcbc6cb4c90858f08d8fffc7eee%7C8da13783cb68443fbb4b997f77fd5bfb%7C0%7C0%7C637540807207637159%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=a8eNDyXyh7zXOZBhNqW89hHSBVFVq8R7QmafLGmM2Ak%3D&reserved=0


 

 

6 

 

No. Decision/Action/Message Who Will action? When? 

mainly advice and education.  Plans were in place for dates around the further 
easing of restrictions and the Police were working with partners to manage those 
dates.  

    

38.   Elections in a Covid Safe Environment 
 
The County Solicitor advised that elections were due to take place in 3 weeks, and 
measures were in place to ensure they would be Covid secure.  There would be a 
slightly different feel to the elections; polling stations would be COVID safe, 
marshalling polling stations, one in and out systems in some places, face masks 
and hand sanitiser, and a restriction on the number of people that could attend the 
Count process. There was an ongoing communication campaign to highlight 
options of postal voting and to stress that attending polling stations was safe. 

  

    

39.   Public Questions / Other Questions for the Board 
 
No further questions were raised.  
  

  

    

40.   Key Messages to be Communicated 
 
The Board and Head of Communications and Media considered the key messages 
coming from the meeting.  
 
These included: 
 

- Easing of restrictions from 12 April 

  

P
age 6

A
genda Item

 2



 

 

7 

 

No. Decision/Action/Message Who Will action? When? 

- Safe reopening of hospitality and tourism sector  
- Continued messaging around social distancing 
- Community testing and twice weekly testing was now available 
- Workplace outbreaks and car sharing 
- Vaccination programme – continued to encourage take up and explain 

concerns around the Astra Zeneca vaccine.  
 
Further detailed Communications were attached to these minutes.  
 

    

41.   Date of Next Meeting 
 
Members noted the date of the next meeting would be confirmed post elections. 

  

  
 

  

 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 2





1 
 

 Economy Service Briefing: August 2021                                                         
Devon’s Economy – The data analysis                           
 
Content 

 Introduction 

 Summary of key impacts 

 In depth and Devon impacts 
o Economic output – National and Devon forecasts 
o Devon Labour market- Self-employed and furlough schemes 
o Broader business support uptake in Devon 
o DCC Economic Vulnerability Index 
o Future impacts and other government support schemes  
o Business Impacts 

 National information 
 Devon Jobs market, vacancies by sector 
 Devon Tourism survey, retail spend 

o The Economy looking forward 
 

 

Introduction 
 
Devon’s economy was hit hard during 2020 and early 2021, with the immediate economic impacts of COVID-19 for the County as a whole being as severe as 
any in living memory. Devon County Council’s (DCC) Economy, Enterprise and Skills team has been keeping track of the rapidly changing economic situation 
by using real-time information from a number of sources including Government, commissioning targeted studies, evidence and forecasts and gathering 
information directly from the business community to keep a track of impacts on our economy. 
 
This information has fed directly into our Team Devon response and recovery work programme and that of partner organisations, including District Councils. It 
has also formed the basis of our engagement with Government to help drive forward a series of opportunity focused asks to help build our future economy. 
 
The available data and evidence we are drawing on is summarised within this report. Only some datasets are available at a local, or District level, or are 
produced very recently. We have included within this report stakeholder and business derived evidence, which we will continue to expand as new data 
emerges. 

  Parliamentary Briefing: January 2020  

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 8



2 
 

 

Summary of key impacts 
 
Devon’s economy was rated ‘red’ by Government in Spring 2020 due to its deteriorating situation and the Economy, Enterprise and Skills team has been 
working closely with Government to monitor this situation working jointly with partner organisations locally, including District Councils, to drive forward an 
economic recovery plan, with deliverable and tangible actions.  
 
Prior to the COVID-19 first national lockdown in March 2020 the global, national and local economies were already slowing rapidly, with notable impacts being 
felt in the County from the closure of Appledore shipyard; Flybe going into administration and significant jobs losses at Axminster carpets. 
 
Certain parts of the tourism, hospitality and retail sectors on which Devon is overdependent have been especially hard hit, with many high street shop and 
restaurant chains announcing closures. Overseas owned branch plant manufacturing operations have also been vulnerable to global factors, with the 
announcement of closures of KDC Swallowfield in Bideford and Gould pumps in Axminster. During the first lockdown the construction sector was heavily 
impacted but has since recovered strongly and continued activity during the second and third lockdowns.  The fishing sector has also been hit due in part to 
restricted supermarket supply chains, closure of the hospitality sector both in the UK and overseas, the impact of trade friction following the end of the Brexit 
transition period on 31st December 2020. Now as the economy reopens many sectors in Devon have labour supply issues.  
 

Key parts of the workforce being impacted across Devon include: 

 Lower paid workers, who were more likely to have been furloughed and three times more likely to 
have been on reduced hours than their well-off counterparts (Source: London School of Economics)   

 Freelancers - national average earnings fell from £22,742 per quarter at the start of 2020 to 
£17,293 at the end of December 2020 (source: Office of National Statistics) 

 Just About Managing (families in work, but on lower incomes and Tax Credits) – pre-Covid figures 
showed that 39% of children in Devon were in working families claiming tax credits, compared 
with 36% in Great Britain. There was a particularly high concentration in Torridge (44%) and 
North Devon (43%) (source: Oxford Economics) 

 Younger people – large rise in UC claimants under 25 in Devon affected by lockdowns – from 
1,710 in March 2020 to 4,180 in March 2021. Rise of 119% in England; 144% in Devon, and 
231% rise in South Hams (source: Office for National Statistics) 

 Over 50s UC claimants – a large continuing rise through the year from 2,300 in March 2020 to 
5,815 in March 2021. Rise of 111% in England; 153% in Devon, with a 188% rise in North Devon 
(source: Office for National Statistics) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 10

A
genda Item

 8



3 
 

Key impacts to date for the Devon Economy 
 
Economic output 

 Pre pandemic Devon’s economy already significantly underperformed the national economy, with GVA at just 77.8% of the UK in 2019.  

 Devon has a forecasted loss of output / productivity similar to the UK wide impact of almost 10% of GDP for 2020 as a whole on its pre pandemic 
levels.  The Bank of England now forecasts a swifter and more sustained UK recovery of 7.25% in 2021 and 5.75% in 2022 with the national economy 
returning to its pre-Covid level by end-2021.  

 Delayed economic recovery compared with nationally forecasted for much of Devon outside of Exeter and particularly in Mid and West Devon.  
Unemployment 

 A rise in Universal Credit (UC) Claimant count in Devon from 1.8% in March 2020 to 5.0% by May 2020 before falling back to 3.6% in June 2021, 
although with significant additional levels of inactivity (some hidden unemployment). 

 UC levels in Devon rose from being very significantly below the national average, to close to the national average, the UK also having seen significant 
rises due to lockdowns  

 Very heavy impacts in terms of UC claimant rises during lockdowns for under 25s and over 50s, although numbers of claimants now falling for all age 
groups 

Furlough 

 Large numbers of people in Devon still claiming furlough at end of May 2021, although well below the one third of all workers in Devon on furlough 
seen in early summer 2020.  

 Now around the national average (8% of all workers in Devon at the end of May), from well above previously  – we expect this to fall further as the 
furlough scheme winds down. 

 Furlough especially focused in hospitality, tourism, the arts, construction, manufacturing and the service sector generally 
Labour Market 

 As some locked-down businesses began to reopen in April to July 2021 significant labour shortages have occurred in Devon across many sectors 

 Some sectors experiencing acute demand include tourism; hospitality; health and care (which had some shortages pre-covid); transport (especially 
HGV drivers) and skilled construction staff. The voluntary sector has in some instances also reported a shortage of volunteers. Demand for goods and 
services appears to be bouncing back, but now with fewer people able to service those demands. 

 A variety of reasons have been given and these include especially furlough, but also higher levels of applications to study, or retrain; EU exit causing 
an interim lack of migrant workers; early retirements during covid lockdowns; high housing costs meaning people can’t afford to live near some jobs 
and people reprioritising their lives linked to covid lockdowns. 

 In the tourism sector recent evidence now points to over half of all businesses paying more for staff, but reducing their opening hours, with disgruntled 
customers sometimes being the outcome. A significant number of businesses report brisk business but the impact of previous lockdowns has impacted 
their net positions with cash flow risk still looming and potential impacts on business survivability into 2022. 

Just About Managing and pay 

 Between 2019 and 2020 average pay for the lowest 20% of earners nationally rose slightly. In Devon outside of South Hams and West Devon it fell 
significantly and was already lower than nationally pre pandemic (in Devon as a whole for this group it fell by 6%). Unsure yet as to whether these 
impacts are temporary, but even temporary impacts could mean lower income households suffering from more debt issues.   

 Average workplace pay rates in Devon were around 82.7% of the UK in 2020, but lower still in some parts of the County (West Devon just 71.9% of 
UK) 

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 8



4 
 

 Data on average pay rates overall in Devon were very volatile in 2020 showing a lot of changes to the labour market, but no significant trend, although 
greater levels of working from home. 2021 and 2022 data is needed to ascertain any longer term trends. 

 On average, pay for freelancers on during 2020 took a significant hit 

 SW House prices up 17% in a year – competition for housing, especially at higher priced end and in rural/coastal areas 

 Staycation boom causing rental property to come off the market and be let by Airbnb - renters who have to move have been hit, especially in traditional 
holiday areas. Unsure yet as to whether these impacts are temporary.  

 Anecdotal evidence (so far) of highly significant increases (doubling in some instances) in Food Bank usage in Devon during the pandemic lockdown 
periods and more widely worry about food insecurity, especially among those with children 

High Streets 

 All high streets in Devon were impacted by significant temporary business closures during the first 2020 lockdown 

 Since then there has been a significant shift in spend patterns with many of the smaller market and coastal towns that are focused on independent 
stores holding up best, buoyed in part by the resumption of the holiday trade; higher numbers of people working from home and shopping more locally 
and retirees, many of whose incomes have held up feeling more confident in venturing out and spending again. 

 The retail businesses most impacted by the pandemic have tended to be national and international chain stores that operate on business models with 
tight margins and often occupy more expensive town and city centre retail units.   

 Retail vacancy rates remain an issue, but in most Devon towns and cities are below the national average (those remaining above at most recent 
survey were Cullompton, Ilfracombe, Axminster, Barnstaple and Exeter City Centre) 

 
 

In depth  
 
Economic output 
National output figures are produced significantly in advance of those released for local areas i.e. Devon. 
 
Latest GDP data for May 2021 shows the UK economy has now recovered to 3.1% below the level in February 2020 before the pandemic.  Between April and 
May 2021, the economy grew by 0.8% as the economy continued to re-open; with Services output up 0.9% (driven by a 37% recovery in accommodation & 
food output); Production output up 0.8%; while Construction output was down 0.8% (leaving it 0.3% above the February 2020 level). 
 

P
age 12

A
genda Item

 8



5 
 

 
Source: ONS July 2021 

 
In terms of the sectors which were hardest hit at the start of the pandemic wholesale & retail output has now recovered to 5% above the level of output in 
February 2020 with a significant shift from physical to online purchases and an expansion of wholesale storage facilities.   
 
In the week ending 26 June, retail footfall in the South West was 80% of the equivalent week in 2019, compared to 75% across the UK.  Footfall was strongest 
at retail parks at 95%, but lower at shopping centres and high streets at 70% and 68% respectively. 
 
Construction activity has also re-bounded strongly with building sites allowed to resume activity earlier in the pandemic with social distancing measures and 
an increase in house building activity and commercial work.  Education was impacted with the closure of schools and colleges and subsequent move to online 
teaching, with rising case numbers, there are reports of increased absences due to self-isolation measures in the latest month. 
 
Accommodation & food was hardest hit at the start of the pandemic with output falling 90% by April 2020, it subsequently began to recover with the eat out to 
help out scheme in July 2020.  In autumn and winter 2020 the sector was again hit by social distancing restrictions and the November 2020 lockdown.  In 
early 2021 most accommodation was shut in the 3rd lockdown with take-away services allowed to continue.  Outdoor hospitality and self-catering 
accommodation were allowed to re-open on 12 April and Indoor hospitality and accommodation from 17 May which has led to a dramatic recovery in the 
sector. 

50

60

70

80

90

100

110

Feb-20 May-20 Aug-20 Nov-20 Feb-21 May-21

Feb 20 = 100 UK Monthly GDP (Feb 2020 to May 2021)

TOTAL GDP

Agriculture

PRODUCTION

Construction

SERVICES

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 8



6 
 

 
Arts, entertainment and recreation and Other services have seen similar trends but have recovered less strongly in the last 2 months due to more restrictive 
social distancing measures, or full closures remaining in place, with output still about 25% below the level before the pandemic.  
 

 
Source: ONS July 2021 

 
 

Devon 
 
In early summer 2020, on behalf of SW Councils DCC commissioned Oxford Economics to analyse potential Covid-19 economic impacts across the South 
West, including Devon. It found that output (size of the economy) impacts in Devon as a whole would be likely to be on par with the UK and produced a range 
of scenario’s reflecting both the likely evolution of the pandemic and subsequent strength of the economic recovery. Nonetheless some areas of Devon, 
especially Mid Devon and West Devon are expected to recover more slowly than nationally. 
 
 
 

0

20

40

60

80

100

Feb-20 May-20 Aug-20 Nov-20 Feb-21 May-21

Feb 20 = 100 UK GVA by Industry - 6 Hardest Hit Sectors 

Wholesale & Retail
Construction
Education
Other Services
Arts, entertainment, recreation
Accommodation & Food

P
age 14

A
genda Item

 8



7 
 

 
Oxford Economics recovery forecasts for Devon 

Baseline 
output 
recovery by  

Pessimistic 
output 
recovery by 

Baseline 
employment 
recovery by 

Pessimistic 
employment 
recovery by 

Baseline 
unemployment 
recovery by 

Pessimistic 
unemployment 
recovery by 

2022 2026 2022 2023 2023 Beyond 2035 

 
 
Labour market  
 
Devon initially saw a very significant rise in unemployment related to pandemic lockdowns, in particular among young people and the over 50s. The degree of 
increase experienced was above the national average, although the volume and rate overall are still slightly lower than the national average. It has risen from 
a situation of almost full employment in 2018 to now being close to the national average. Please note that claimant count unemployment figures are the 
narrower measure of unemployment and under the broader measure of unemployment figures are usually higher. 
 
Devon experienced above the national average reliance on the national Job Retention Scheme (furlough).  As the economy and hospitality has re-opened this 
situation has improved markedly with the latest data available to the end of May 2021. 
 
Reliance on Furlough (CJRS) 

Area CJRS  

(July 2020) 

CJRS  

(Jan 2021) 

CJRS  

(May 2021) 

% of 
eligible 
employees 
Furloughed 
July 2020 

% of 
eligible 
employees 
Furloughed 
Jan 2021 

% of 
eligible 
employees 
Furloughed 
May 2021 

Torbay UA 20,000 10,900 5,200 36.5% 19.9% 10.1% 

West Devon 6,700 3,500 1,700 31.9% 16.8% 8.5% 

East Devon 19,700 10,000 4,600 34.0% 17.3% 8.3% 

England 8,067,700 3,886,900 1,963,100 31.5% 15.5% 8.2% 

Teignbridge 19,900 10,000 4,400 34.8% 17.6% 8.2% 

South Hams 11,700 6,200 2,600 35.1% 18.5% 8.1% 

North Devon 14,400 7,000 3,100 35.6% 17.2% 8.1% 

Torridge 9,200 4,300 1,900 35.8% 16.8% 7.9% 

Devon County 109,900 54,500 24,400 33.3% 16.6% 7.8% 

South West 808,900 396,600 179,200 32.1% 15.9% 7.6% 

Exeter 17,400 8,500 3,900 29.9% 14.9% 7.2% 

Mid Devon 10,900 5,100 2,200 30.0% 14.1% 6.4% 

Plymouth UA 36,400 15,000 6,700 31.2% 13.0% 6.0% 
Source: HMRC June 2021 

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 8



8 
 

 

Reliance on Self Employed Income Support Scheme (SEISS) 

 

Devon has also been disproportionately impacted in terms of the percentage of its workers who claimed SEISS, particularly focused in rural areas. 

 

Area SEISS1  

(July 2020) 

SEISS3 

(Jan 2021) 

SEISS4  

(May 2021) 

SEISS1/ 
Workforce 
July 2020 

SEISS3/ 
Workforce 
Jan 2021 

SEISS4/ 
Workforce 
May 2021 

South Hams 5,400 4,100 3,400 11.1% 8.4% 7.0% 

North Devon 5,600 4,300 3,700 10.0% 7.7% 6.6% 

Torridge 4,200 3,000 2,400 10.9% 7.8% 6.2% 

West Devon 3,200 2,400 1,900 10.2% 7.7% 6.1% 

Torbay UA 6,200 5,300 4,600 8.1% 6.9% 6.0% 

East Devon 6,900 5,400 4,500 8.8% 6.9% 5.7% 

Teignbridge 6,500 5,100 4,400 8.5% 6.6% 5.7% 

Devon County 40,300 30,900 26,000 8.6% 6.6% 5.6% 

Mid Devon 4,300 3,200 2,600 9.0% 6.7% 5.4% 

South West 239,000 192,000 165,000 7.1% 5.7% 4.9% 

England 2,259,000 1,910,000 1,699,000 6.4% 5.4% 4.8% 

Plymouth UA 8,700 7,400 6,600 5.2% 4.5% 4.0% 

Exeter 4,200 3,300 3,000 4.7% 3.7% 3.3% 
Source: HMRC June 2021 

 
Key sectors reliant on national employment support schemes 
The key sectors which remained reliant on the Coronavirus Job Retention (furlough) scheme in the Devon County Council area for May 2021 were: 

 Arts, Entertainment and Recreation (29% of staff in the sector still furloughed) 

 Accommodation and Food (34% of staff in the sector still furloughed) 

 Transport and storage (11% of staff in the sector still furloughed) 

 Construction (11% of staff in the sector still furloughed) 

 Wholesale and retail (8% of staff in the sector still furloughed) 
 
Other sectors heavily impacted include:  

 Other Services 

 Admin & Support  
 
These sectors are strongly represented in the economy of many parts of Devon. Additionally, the Self-Employment Income Support Scheme shows 29% of 
claims in the South West originate from self-employed workers in the construction sector. 

P
age 16

A
genda Item

 8



9 
 

Broader business support 
 
SME take-up of Government backed loans 
In summer 2020 the Government announced loan schemes to help businesses to cope with the business effects of COVID-19 (these schemes were 
subsequently extended to 31 March 2021). For Small and Medium sized (SME) businesses these included: 

 The Bounce Back Loan Scheme (BBLS) designed to provide financial support to businesses across the UK that are losing revenue and seeing their 
cashflow disrupted and that can benefit from £50,000 or less in finance.  A pay as you grow scheme now also allows businesses to extend the 
repayment period for these loans up to 10 years and provides for a 6 month payment deferral. 

 The Coronavirus Business Interruption Loan Scheme (CBILS) provided financial support to smaller businesses helped small and medium-sized 
businesses to access loans and other kinds of finance up to £5 million. The government guaranteed 80% of the finance to the lender and pays interest 
and any fees for the first 12 months. 

 

By the end of May 2021 the British Business Bank stated that for the Devon County Council area it had provided: 

 BBLS: 20,234 loans worth £570.6m – highest take-up in construction and retail businesses – highest take-up in southern and eastern Devon 

 CBILS: 1358 loans worth £321.7m – highest take-up in retail, construction and manufacturing businesses, with accommodation and food 
businesses also well represented – highest take-up in southern and eastern Devon 

 

SME Grant payments 

The Government also extended support to SME’s with further grant payments in the second and third lockdowns to businesses in the Devon County Council 
area 

 Local Restriction Support Grants: 48,061 grants were paid by 31 March 2021 with a total value of £109.6m. 

 A total of 10,114 additional restriction grants have been paid to businesses in the DCC area with a total value of 21.7m up to 30 May 2021.  A 
further 8,464 ‘restart’ grants have also been paid to hospitality, accommodation, leisure and non-essential retail businesses up to the end of 
May 2021 with a total value of £64.4m. 

 

Cash flow is still a key issue for businesses and the BoE has recently highlighted many SME’s in financial distress in Accommodation & Food; Transport & 
Storage and other sectors which have been hit hard by the pandemic.  Results from the latest Business Impact of Coronavirus Survey (BIC’s) to 26 June 
show: 

 

 A total of 43% of ‘Other Service’ firms, 34% of ‘Accommodation & Food’ firms, and 29% of ‘Transport & Storage’ firms had less than 3 
months cashflow. 

 A total of 13% of ‘Other Service’ firms, 10% of ‘Construction’ firms, 9% of ‘Accommodation & Food’ firms and 8% of ‘Transport & Storage’ 
firms had less than 1 months cashflow. 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 8



10 
 

Economic vulnerability index  
 
The DCC Economy, Enterprise and Skills team has compiled a fine-grained economic vulnerability index focused on neighbourhoods, wards and towns within 
Devon to assess the overall state of play in terms of our economy and its constituent areas, looking in particular at the recent impacts of Covid-19 on our 
economy. This uses a range of different economic datasets and indicators, including from the UK Government Office for National Statistics. It is updated 
every few weeks and relative positions of localities often alter as a result of the incorporation of new national datasets.  

 
The DCC Economic vulnerability index uses an existing economic baseline but is combined with more real-time information when this is available. It is helping 
identify areas of both need and opportunity in a potentially rapidly changing post Covid-19 economy. It will help us design appropriate interventions subject to 
programme and funding constraints and including where relevant with education and business sector partners. 
 
It includes factors such as current unemployment levels, alongside respective furlough vulnerability, age profile, sector make up (highlighting potentially 
vulnerable sectors) and overall deprivation. As the furlough scheme ends the vulnerability index will be amended accordingly and if any relevant new datasets 
become available that are applicable to the index, these will be included. 
 
Most of Devon has been significantly impacted by the economic effects of COVID-19 and more broadly a slowing global, national and local economy, with 
patterns of economic difficulty spread more widely across the whole County than in previous recessions. The impacts and future vulnerabilities identified in the 
index are being felt most significantly in Devon’s market and coastal towns, with the 10 most vulnerable areas currently being: 
 

Most vulnerable localities in Devon on composite Economic 
vulnerability index 

1. Barnstaple Town Centre 

2. Teignmouth: Town Centre and Seafront area 

3. Ilfracombe – High Street, Fore Street and Quay 

4. Newton Abbot : Station Road and Osborne Street area 

5. Newton Abbot: Central – Union Road and Halcyon Road area 

6. Ilfracombe West – Wilder Road and Torrs Park 

7. Totnes Town Centre 

8. Barnstaple – Forches Avenue Area 

9. Honiton – Streamers Meadows and King Street 

10. Ilfracombe – College Area 
NB: As at 19th July 2021 

 
 
Future Impacts and government support 
 
We have provided a cautious forecast of additional potential increases as a result of the end of Furlough (now scheduled for 30 September 2021) and some 
further self-employed becoming unemployed, taking into account new measures that the Chancellor has recently announced to support employers.   

P
age 18

A
genda Item

 8



11 
 

 

Additional support measures have been gradually announced by the Government as the pandemic has evolved, the most recent of these include; 

 

 A Pay as You Grow scheme will allow businesses to delay all Bounce Back Loan (BBL) payments for a further six months and will also allow up to 10 
years to repay the loans. 
 

 Businesses in the retail, hospitality and leisure sectors received a one-off grant worth up to £9,000 (a discretionary fund is available to support other 
impacted businesses).  The third lockdown grant funding was in addition to existing discretionary grant funding to districts of up to £3000 per eligible 
business per month. 

 The one-off funding is based on business property rateable values; 
 - £4,000 for businesses with a rateable value <£15,000 
 - £6,000 for businesses with a rateable value between £15,000 and £51,000 
 - £9,000 for businesses with a rateable value >£51,000 

 

 A sector specific support package for Airports called the Air and Ground Operations Scheme providing funding of up to £8m per applicant covering 
fixed costs such as business rates now extended to 31 March 2022. 
 

 A Seafood disruption support scheme to support SME’s exporting fish and shellfish to the EU providing up to £100,000 per applicant as a proportion of 
losses incurred. 

 
The March 2021 Budget also extended support measures such as the furlough scheme and self employed income support scheme (SEISS) to 30 September 
2021.  The detailed measures outlined in the budget include; 
 

 £5bn of ‘restart’ grants funding to help businesses re-start trading safely, including up to £18,000 for hospitality, accommodation, leisure, personal care 
and gyms and up to £6,000 for non-essential retail per premises depending on rateable value.  The new grants replace monthly local restrictions 
grants (LRG’s). 
 

 Furlough scheme extended to 30 September 2021 – continuing at 80% of salary. From July employers will have to contribute 10%, then 20% in Aug 
and Sept. 

 

 The fourth Self Employed SEISS grant was available to claim until May 31 and worth 80% of 3-month average trading profits up to £7500.  Some 
600,000 additional self-employed will now be eligible as 2019-20 tax return data is now available.  A fifth grant has now available from June with the 
system open for these grants until the end of July. 

 

 Coronavirus Business Interruption Loans (CBIL) have morphed in to the ‘Recovery Loan Scheme’ available until 31 December 2021 (subject to review) 
with continued 80% Government guarantee.  Bounce back loans BBL and large LCBIL loans closed to applications on 31 March 2021. 

 

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 8



12 
 

 Extended business rates relief for retail, hospitality, leisure and nurseries - 100% relief up to the end of June and 66% relief between 30 June 2021 and 
01 April 2022 (capped at £2m for businesses forced to close on 05 January 2021 and £105,000 for other eligible businesses) 

 

 5% reduced rate VAT for hospitality businesses extended to end of Sept 2021, with a 12.5% transitional rate until the end of March 2022. 
 
Projections of potential UC claimants June 2021 (May data) – Districts and highest impacted wards 

 

We have provided a conservative forecast of additional potential increases as a result of the end of Furlough and some further self-employed becoming 
unemployed, taking into account new measures that the Chancellor has recently announced to support employers.  

 

  Area Mar-20 Apr-21 May-21 
Workforce 

Supported (CJRS) 
(SEISS) 

10% Risk 
Unemployed 

2.5% Risk 
Unemployed 

Projection Nov 
21 (High) 

Projection Nov 
21 (Low) 

 Torbay 3.5 6.3 5.7 12.8% 1.3% 0.3% 6.7 6.0 

 England 3.0 6.0 5.7 10.4% 1.0% 0.3% 6.0 6.0 

 Plymouth 3.5 5.5 5.2 8.0% 0.8% 0.2% 5.4 5.4 

 North Devon 2.2 4.8 4.2 12.2% 1.2% 0.3% 5.2 4.5 

 Torridge 2.3 4.5 4.1 11.2% 1.1% 0.3% 5.0 4.4 

 Somerset 2.3 4.3 4.0 10.5% 1.0% 0.3% 4.8 4.3 

 Teignbridge 1.9 4.1 3.7 11.5% 1.1% 0.3% 4.7 4.0 

 Devon 1.8 3.9 3.6 10.8% 1.1% 0.3% 4.6 3.9 

 South Hams 1.5 3.8 3.4 12.3% 1.2% 0.3% 4.5 3.7 

 East Devon 1.8 3.7 3.3 11.6% 1.2% 0.3% 4.5 3.6 

 West Devon 1.6 3.7 3.3 11.5% 1.2% 0.3% 4.2 3.6 

 Mid Devon 1.7 3.5 3.2 10.0% 1.0% 0.3% 4.2 3.5 

 

P
age 20

A
genda Item

 8



13 
 

Just about Managing 

 
This term generally refers to families on low-to-middle incomes, typically with one member of the household in work and who have little spare disposable 
income and low savings and often reliant on financial support mechanisms such as the furlough scheme; mortgage repayment holidays; tax credits and child 
benefit. They are by extension particularly vulnerable should the economic disruption last longer than anticipated. 

 

Latest (pre-Covid) figures showed that 39% of children in Devon are in working families claiming tax credits, compared with 36% in Great Britain. There was a 
particularly high concentration in Torridge (44%) and North Devon (43%). 

 

Recent published earnings data shows that most parts of Devon have been subject to an actual fall in earnings for the lowest paid 20% of workers between 
2019 and 2020, compared with a small rise nationally over the same period. Pay for those groups in Devon was already lower than nationally prior to the 
pandemic.  

 

 
 
Office for national statistics data shows that nationally it is lower income groups that have tended to be worst affected by the economic impacts of the 
pandemic. 

 

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 8



14 
 

  
 
In addition, Devon County Council is currently exploring potential impacts upon food bank usage and wider food insecurity during pandemic lockdowns. 
Current anecdotal evidence points to significantly increased usage and food insecurity concerns during lockdowns, particularly among families with children, 
although further exploration is taking place. We expect that usage will now decline as the economy reopens, but that there may be residual issues in terms of 
debt as a result of lost incomes. 

 

Impacts on business 
 
DCC is collecting real-time information from our business community in terms of impacts, issues and occasionally opportunities related to COVID-19. We are 
using this to supplement data and surveys that we gather and analyse. Most of this information backs up the findings we have on emerging impacts and 
highlights the particular difficulties experienced by hotels; some retailers; some tourist attractions; fisheries; arts/entertainment and also some manufacturers, 
especially when they are overseas owned branch-plants, or reliant on large UK retailer/supermarket contracts.   

 

 

P
age 22

A
genda Item

 8



15 
 

National data 
 
Purchasing Managers Indices 
 
June saw UK manufacturing continue its recovery from the steep COVID-19 induced downturn with a Purchasing Manager’s Index of 63.9 (anything above 50 
indicates expansion). Output, orders and employment all rose, but manufacturers also reported record input price rises.  The service sector PMI meanwhile 
fell slightly to 62.4 in June from an 8 year high of 62.9 in May.  The easing of lock-down restrictions has led to rapid growth with some hospitality businesses 
also reporting capacity constraints and shortages of staff  
 
The Markit Construction PMI rose from 64.2 in May to 66.3 in June - the highest since 1997 (a value above 50 indicates expansion).  Recovery is being led by 
housebuilding and commercial activity.  Supplier delivery times have lengthened to the longest in 24 years with input prices also rising at a record pace with 
shortages in particularly for cement, concrete, plaster, steel, timber and roof tiles.  The rate of job creation eased slightly in June but remained close to a 7-
year high. 
 
House prices 
 
According to the Halifax house prices fell by 0.5% in June reducing the annual rate of increase to 8.8% with the stamp duty holiday now being phased out fully 
by the end of September.  RICS surveyors remain positive with a net balance of +56 expecting house prices to continue rising, although the number of houses 
coming on to the market fell with a net balance of -34% of surveyors indicating lower supply in June. 
 
Separate recent Nationwide data, however, pointed to the South West having the largest increase in house prices nationally at 17% over the past year. This is 
expected to have significant impacts on housing affordability for residents, particularly in already expensive locations, which may have an impact on workers 
being able to live near their place of work and resulting labour market impacts. Recent evidence from Airbnb also points to a significant uptick in rental 
properties in coastal and some rural areas being marketed as short-term holiday lets, which is impacting upon the amount of properties available for longer 
term residential lettings.  
 
Business Impact of COVID-19 Survey (BICS) - sectors 
 
The Office for National Statistics undertakes a fortnightly national Business Impact of COVID-19 Survey (BICS). In this survey it asks by sector which 
companies are expecting significant cash-flow problems.  A number of businesses across all sectors appear to have been experiencing difficulties during the 
pandemic.  Significant among this national analysis for Devon are the cash flow concerns for Accommodation & Food, Other Services and Construction given 
above average employment in these sectors. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 8



16 
 

 
Proportion of businesses with less than 3 months Cashflow 
 

Industry May 2020 Sept 2020 Mar 2021 May 2021 June 2021 

Manufacturing 37.6% 23.6% 25.7% 26.4% 24.2% 

Water Supply, Waste Mgt 48.4% 33.1% 26.0% 26.3% 32.8% 

Construction 56.8% 32.9% 39.1% 36.7% 34.6% 

Wholesale And Retail Trade 41.8% 20.2% 26.2% 25.2% 22.9% 

Transportation And Storage 49.4% 26.6% 28.4% 34.3% 29.4% 

Accommodation And Food 66.0% 40.1% 47.4% 46.2% 34.1% 

Information And Comms * 21.6% 24.9% 20.5% 21.7% 

Real Estate Activities 37.8% 28.2% 22.2% 26.7% 29.1% 

Professional And Technical 46.8% 23.1% 25.6% 25.7% 24.9% 

Administrative And Support 51.8% 34.0% 36.2% 36.9% 33.0% 

Education 35.9% 24.2% 23.7% 16.5% 22.1% 

Human Health And Social 
Work 35.4% 28.7% 29.3% 36.1% 25.0% 

Arts, Entertain And Recreation 58.2% 25.7% 33.4% 27.8% 25.3% 

Other Services  43.0% 58.9% 47.6% 42.6% 

All Industries 46.5% 27.0% 30.7% 29.9% 26.9% 

 
 

Chambers of Commerce – sentiment survey 

Since the start of the Covid-19 outbreak until the British Chambers of Commerce have been surveying businesses nationally on a regular basis. 

Recent information published (just prior to hospitality reopening) showed: 

 3 in every 5 firms (61%) have seen their revenue from UK customers fall in the last 3 months. 

 Almost a third (31%) of business-to-consumer (B2C) firms said they would run out of cash in the next 3 months. 

 A quarter of survey respondents (25%) report they would have made staff redundant if financial support had ended in March and April. 

 On average business-to-consumer (B2C) firms were only operating at 42% of full capacity, while the figure overall was 57% for all firms against a pre-
pandemic level of 75 to 80%. 

 More than two thirds (68%) of firms using the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS) said it had been very effective, with a further 28% saying it 
was somewhat effective. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 8



17 
 

Jobs market 

 
Jobs vacancies and recruitment in Devon – percentage change by sector 
COVID-19 initially impacted significantly on recruitment by businesses across Devon, but there has been a subsequent recovery which has now become 
broad based across the region and across different sectors of the economy. 

 

 
Source: Burning Glass – Labour Insights 

 

Recruitment activity in Q2 2021 has now increased above the level it was before the pandemic in Q2 2019. 

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

Ja
n

-2
0

1
9

Fe
b

-2
0

1
9

M
ar

-2
0

1
9

A
p

r-
2

0
1

9

M
ay

-2
0

1
9

Ju
n

-2
0

1
9

Ju
l-

2
0

1
9

A
u

g-
2

0
1

9

Se
p

-2
0

1
9

O
ct

-2
0

1
9

N
o

v-
2

0
1

9

D
e

c-
2

0
1

9

Ja
n

-2
0

2
0

Fe
b

-2
0

2
0

M
ar

-2
0

2
0

A
p

r-
2

0
2

0

M
ay

-2
0

2
0

Ju
n

-2
0

2
0

Ju
l-

2
0

2
0

A
u

g-
2

0
2

0

Se
p

-2
0

2
0

O
ct

-2
0

2
0

N
o

v-
2

0
2

0

D
e

c-
2

0
2

0

Ja
n

-2
0

2
1

Fe
b

-2
0

2
1

M
ar

-2
0

2
1

A
p

r-
2

0
2

1

M
ay

-2
0

2
1

Ju
n

-2
0

2
1

Devon Recruitment Trends (2019 to 2021)

Total postingsP
age 25

A
genda Item

 8



18 
 

 
Source: Burning Glass – Labour Insights 

 
Bounce-backs in recruitment have occurred especially in manufacturing, hospitality, personal services and agriculture.  Occupations in highest demand 
currently include Office Admin, Customer Service, Registered General Nurse and Care Workers.  Others such as delivery drivers are now in much higher 
demand than before the pandemic and there has been a dramatic turnaround in the demand for Chefs as hospitality has re-opened. 

0 2000 4000 6000 8000

Exeter

Plymouth

Torbay

North Devon

Mid Devon

Teignbridge

East Devon

South Hams

West Devon

Torridge

Devon Job Vacancies by District 

2019Q2

2020Q2

2021Q2

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 8



19 
 

 

 
Source: Burning Glass – Labour Insights 

 

 

0 500 1000

Office / Administrative Assistant

Customer Service Representative

Registered General Nurse (RGN)

Caregiver / Personal Care Aide

Project Manager

Delivery Driver

Chef

General cleaner

Account Manager / Representative

Labourer / Material Handler

Software Developer / Engineer

Care assistant

Lawyer

Teaching Assistant

Accountant

Bookkeeper / Accounting Clerk

HGV / LGV Class 2 Driver

Production Worker

Retail Sales Associate

Food Service Team Member

Receptionist

Civil Engineer

Sales Representative

Devon Occupations in Highest Demand Q2 2021 

2019Q2

2020Q2

2021Q2

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 8



20 
 

Change in advertised vacancies 

Sector Apr-Jun 2021 change  
Year on Year change to 
June 2021 

Feb 20 - 
Jun 21 
change 

Agriculture, Horticulture, & the 
Outdoors 4.0% 225.0% 188.9% 

Business Management and Operations 33.7% 201.9% 93.6% 

Clerical and Administrative 36.2% 246.4% 90.2% 

Community and Social Services -13.5% 20.7% 48.6% 

Construction, Extraction, and 
Architecture -21.1% 118.5% 58.4% 

Customer and Client Support 66.1% 374.6% 116.7% 

Design, Media, and Writing -32.8% 141.2% 0.0% 

Education and Training 23.0% 11.2% -19.6% 

Engineering -11.1% 104.6% 38.3% 

Finance -12.5% 94.4% 24.1% 

Health Care including Nursing 21.3% 19.6% 27.3% 

Hospitality, Food, and Tourism 27.9% 325.4% 62.2% 

Human Resources 86.2% 250.0% 36.7% 

Information Technology 13.0% 56.2% 10.4% 

Law, Compliance, and Public Safety -9.6% 140.6% 51.8% 

Maintenance, Repair, and Installation 10.9% 100.0% 60.0% 

Manufacturing and Production -10.9% 241.8% 81.7% 

Marketing and Public Relations -10.2% 146.9% 51.9% 

Performing Arts 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Personal Services 89.7% 189.5% 66.7% 

Planning and Analysis -7.9% 103.5% 34.9% 

Sales 10.4% 251.3% 66.8% 

Science and Research 27.7% 122.2% 39.5% 

Transportation -10.6% 181.5% 115.6% 

Source: Burning Glass – Labour Insights 

 

 

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 8



21 
 

 

Tourism survey 

 

DCC has worked with Visit Devon to undertake a surveys of Devon visitor intentions and tourism business impact during the pandemic.  Latest tourism results 
from a July 2021 Covid-19 Business Impact Survey in Devon taken in June show; 
 

 60% of businesses said their business had been closed for part of May as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, 32% were open for the whole month 
whilst 8% said their business was closed for the whole of May.  

 56% of businesses said they were now fully open whilst 41% said they were now open but operating at reduced capacity. 3% said their business would 
remain closed for the whole of June 

 70% of businesses with staff said that all of their staff are working and 23% said some of their staff are working, some are furloughed. 4% in each case 
said that they had to lay off some of their staff or that some of their staff are on reduced working hours and just 2% said that all of their staff are 
furloughed.  

 17% of businesses were doubtful about surviving the coming months. 71% of businesses were confident of surviving the coming months and 13% felt 
making cut backs would be their only way to survive. 

 Anticipated lost turnover in the sector in Devon is 34% 
 
 

Devon retail spend data – Tortoise media  

 

News and media business Tortoise media tracked and mapped consumer spend across Travel to Work Areas and towns nationally in early and mid 2020 and 
again in early 2021, providing change in spend data on the previous month during the first lockdown and as reopening happened. This provided a useful 
insight into consumer demand changes at the local level. 

 
At a local level within Devon total retail spending was down significantly across nearly all parts of the County in Q2 2020, except in those areas where spend 
was primarily on food. Spending picked up over Summer 2020 across most of the County with most coastal areas; Dartmoor and the Blackdown Hills showing 
particularly improved levels of spend, although levels remained down in the Exeter area during Q3 and Q4 2020.  With the renewed lockdown in Q1 2021, 
spending again fell in most coastal and rural areas, but with the re-opening of the economy it will have since recovered in many of these areas. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 8



22 
 

Q2 2020 retail sales Q3 2020 retail sales  

  

 

Q4 2020 retail sales Q1 2021 retail sales  

  

 

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 8



23 
 

National retail spend change 

 

 Retail sales for May 2021 were down -1.4% following a rise of 9.2% in April with the re-opening of non-essential retail. 

 Food sales fell -5.7% in the month following a -0.9% decline in April, there was anecdotal evidence of a rise in people eating out at restaurants and 
bars with the re-opening of hospitality businesses.  In comparison to February 2020 (before the pandemic) food sales remain up 2.6%, with sales at 
smaller local food stores up about 10%. 

 Non-food sales increased by 2.3% in May following a 26% increase in April with most shops allowed to re-open from 12 April.  Household goods sales 
rose 9% in the month and are now up 30% compared to before the pandemic due to pent up demand. 

 Fuel sales also rose 6.2% in May, following an 11% increase in April as easing of restrictions led to an increase in travel.  Latest data on vehicle 
movements shows in the week ending 5 July, overall motor vehicle traffic was 97% of the level in February 2020. 

 Clothing & footwear store sales rose 70% in April as shops re-opened with sales back up to pre-pandemic levels, they fell back 3% in May.  Sales at 
smaller clothing & footwear stores are still significantly down due to social distancing restrictions and buyer confidence. 

 Online sales accounted for 28.5% of all sales in May 2021 down from a record 36% in February 2021 but still up from 20% before the pandemic.  
Compared to February 2020, internet sales have increased by 59%, with online food delivery sales up 115%. 

 

The Economy looking forward 
 
For Devon the future is a potentially mixed picture, with Covid-19 impacts on the economy continuing for much longer than initially predicted. There has, 
however, been some recent good news: 

 Irish owned Exeter Aerospace taking over Flybe’s aircraft maintenance facility at Exeter Airport and immediately advertising for 100 aircraft mechanics, 
engineers and aviation professionals. 

 The announcement that UK based Infrastrata which owns Harland and Wolff shipyard in Belfast has bought Appledore shipyard and intends to restart 
operations at the site. 

 Designation of Plymouth as one of eight freeport sites subject to agreeing their governance arrangements and successfully completing their business 
cases, these Freeports will begin operations from late 2021. The Freeports will contain areas where businesses will benefit from more generous tax 
reliefs, customs benefits and wider government support. 

Government infrastructure funding including £60m to upgrade the A361 North Devon Link Road, improvements to the A303 route into Devon, £40m of 
funding to reinstate passenger services on the Okehampton to Exeter line, and £38m of funding to upgrade the A382 between the A38 and Newton Abbot. 

 The £4.8 billion UK wide Levelling Up Fund, which will support local areas across the UK to invest in infrastructure that improves everyday life. This will 
include regenerating town centres and high streets, upgrading local transport and investing in culture and heritage. 

 The £220m UK Community Renewal Fund which will provide shorter term funding for smaller projects in 2021 between £0.5m and £3m aimed at 
deprived towns, ex-industrial, coastal and rural areas.  The fund aims to support projects targeted at local needs and investment priorities, net zero, 
innovation and skills development guiding the future shared priority fund.  
 
 

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 8



24 
 

 Extensions to Government support measures including hospitality, leisure and non-essential retail re-start grants and continued business rates relief 
announced in the Budget on 03 March and the roadmap out of lockdown was outlined on 22 February.  This has allowed businesses heavily impacted 
by the pandemic to plan to re-open safely with 7-day notice periods between stages; 

 
-  with non-essential retail, outdoor hospitality, self-contained holiday accommodation, camping, zoos and theme parks, swimming pools and gyms, 
libraries and museums allowed to re-start from 12 April.  
- indoor hospitality, hotels, B&B’s and cinemas, performances and limited sporting events from 17 May. 
- remaining sectors of the economy including nightclubs currently from 19 July. 
- capacity caps on businesses and events including concerts, theatres and sporting events will be removed, hospitality businesses will no longer 
required to provide table service only and face masks will no longer be mandatory.  People fully vaccinated and those under 18 will no longer have to 
self -isolate from Amber list countries.  
- From 16 August people fully vaccinated or under 18 will not have to self-isolate unless they test positive. 
  

Roadmap Steps towards economy re-opening: 
 

 Step 1  Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 

 08 March 29 March 12 April. 17 May. No Earlier than 19 
July.  At least 5 
weeks after step 3 

Business and 
Activities 

Wrap around care 
including sport for 
all children 

Organised outdoor 
sport (children and 
adults) 

All Retail Indoor hospitality Remaining 
businesses including 
nightclubs 

  Outdoor sport and 
leisure facilities 

Personal Care Indoor entertainment & 
attractions 

 

   Libraries and community 
centres 

Organised indoor sport 
(adult) 

 

   Most outdoor attractions Remaining 
accommodation 

 

   Indoor leisure inc. gyms 
(individual use only) 

Remaining outdoor 
entertainment (incl. 
performances) 

 

   Self-contained 
accommodation 

  

   Outdoor hospitality   

Travel No Holidays No Holidays Domestic overnight stays 
(households only) 

Domestic overnight 
stays 

Domestic overnight 
stays 

   No International holidays International travel 
(subject to review) 

International travel 

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 8



25 
 

Events Funerals (30)  Funerals (30) Significant life events 
(30) 

No legal limit on live 
events 

 Weddings and 
wakes (6) 

 Weddings and wakes 
(15) 

Indoor events (1000) or 
50% 

Larger events 

   Event pilots Outdoor seated events 
10000 or 50% 

 

COVID-19 Response - Spring 2021 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
 

A significant reconfiguration of our economy is nonetheless expected and we remain highly vulnerable to the end of the furlough scheme now on 30th 
September 2021, with a significant number of people still furloughed towards the end of the third national lockdown particularly in the hospitality, retail, leisure 
and other services industries. 
 
Measures to reduce youth unemployment are welcome with the kickstart scheme now operating and the Government providing £126m in the Budget to create 
40,000 new traineeships in England.  The cash incentive for employers who take on an apprentice has been raised to £3,000 from 01 April 2021, although the 
apprenticeship levy remains in place.  A new flexi-apprenticeship ‘Flexi-job’ scheme will also start in January 2022 to allow people to work for a number of 
different employers in the same sector. 
 
Demand should bounce back in many areas as the economy re-opens with pent-up demand released in some areas and the savings ratio at an all-time high.  
The ongoing traffic light system on international travel may continue to lead to more domestic tourism with reports of increased advanced bookings in many 
coastal and rural areas in Devon.  Hospitality venues may still struggle with viability in the Autumn months if some social distancing measures need to remain 
in place. 
 
The Bank of England is now forecasting swifter and more sustained recovery – to 2019 pre-COVID output levels by the end of 2021 our economy will still be 
3% smaller than it would have been had the Pandemic never happened. Future forecasts for UK economic growth are 7.25% in 2021; 5.75% in 2022; 1.25% 
in 2023.  The Office for Budget Responsibility (OBR) now expect the peak in unemployment to be 340,000 lower than that assumed in their November 2020 
forecast.  
 
 
Other vulnerabilities we note include: 
 

 Impacts on some exporters and importers from the end of the BREXIT transition period and the UK-EU Trade and Cooperation Agreement including 
food, fish and shellfish exports. 

 Lower global demand for some exports; international tourism and aviation due to global economic conditions and potential for new variants of 
coronavirus leading to ongoing travel restrictions. 

 A tourism and hospitality sector that has lost significant revenue through lockdown now being vulnerable to any future on-going disruption from COVID-
19 or other factors. 

 Reshaping of student demand in light of fewer overseas students, changes to the graduate employment market and the near-term impacts of COVID-
19 and lockdowns on students based at UK universities   

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-response-spring-2021/covid-19-response-spring-2021


26 
 

 Potential changes to shopping habits impacting high streets, including online shopping, more local shopping and fewer office workers in town and city 
centres due to a greater predominance of working from home   

 
Potential opportunities we note include: 
 

 The potential to focus on our businesses, skills and environment to help drive a green recovery. 

 Using our digital businesses and capabilities as a launchpad to grow our economy and tap into new markets, provided our people have the right skills. 

 Capitalising on trends in flexible and remote working to ensure opportunities are available for people across the whole Devon with economic benefits 
for local communities. 

 Continuing to improve our tourism and hospitality offer, to capitalise on trends towards UK based holidays. 
 
 

Evidence and data sets 
All data sets, sources and projections used in this briefing are current at the time of writing. The COVID-19 economic picture is still an evolving situation with 
new datasets, reports, forecasts and Government interventions and amendments to programmes happening on an ongoing basis. We update our broader 
DCC COVID-19 economic evidence base regularly and evolve our forecasts and projections to reflect new data, providing greater certainty over time. 
 
Devon County Council Briefing, 
Devon’s Economy – the data analysis 
August 2021 
 

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 8



1 
 

Economy Service Briefing: August 2021                                                             
Devon’s Economy – Summary  
 
Introduction 
 
Devon’s economy was hit hard during 2020 and early 2021, with the immediate economic impacts of 
COVID-19 for the County as a whole being as severe as any in living memory. Devon County Council’s 
(DCC) Economy, Enterprise and Skills team has been keeping track of the rapidly changing economic 
situation by using real-time information from a number of sources, including Government, commissioning 
targeted studies, evidence and forecasts and gathering information directly from the business community to 
keep a track of impacts on our economy. 
 
This information has fed directly into the Team Devon response and recovery work programme working 
with District Council colleagues and partner organisations. It has also formed the basis of our engagement 
with Government to help drive forward a series of opportunity focused asks to help build our future 
economy. 
 
The available data and evidence we are drawing on is summarised within this report. Only some datasets 
are available at a local, or District level, or are produced very recently. We have included within this report 
stakeholder and business derived evidence, which we will continue to expand as new data emerges.  

 

Summary of key impacts 
 
Economic output 
 

 Pre pandemic Devon’s economy already significantly underperformed the national economy, with 
GVA at just 77.8% of the UK in 2019.  

 Devon has a forecasted loss of output / productivity similar to the UK wide impact of almost 10% of 
GDP for 2020 as a whole on its pre pandemic levels.  The Bank of England now forecasts a swifter 
and more sustained UK recovery of 7.25% in 2021 and 5.75% in 2022 with the national economy 
returning to its pre-Covid level by end-2021.  

 Delayed economic recovery compared with nationally forecasted for much of Devon outside of 
Exeter and particularly in Mid and West Devon.  
 

Unemployment 
 

 A rise in Universal Credit (UC) Claimant count in Devon from 1.8% in March 2020 to 5.0% by May 
2020 before falling back to 3.6% in June 2021, although with significant additional levels of inactivity 
(some hidden unemployment). 

 UC levels in Devon rose from being very significantly below the national average, to close to the 
national average, the UK also having seen significant rises due to lockdowns  

 Very heavy impacts in terms of UC claimant rises during lockdowns for under 25s and over 50s, 
although numbers of claimants now falling for all age groups 
 

Furlough 
 

 Large numbers of people in Devon still claiming furlough at end of May 2021, although well below 
the one third of all workers in Devon on furlough seen in early summer 2020.  

 Now around the national average (8% of all workers in Devon at the end of May), from well above 
previously – we expect this to fall further as the furlough scheme winds down. 

 Furlough especially focused in hospitality, tourism, the arts, construction, manufacturing and the 
service sector generally 

  Parliamentary Briefing: January 2020  

Page 35



2 
 

Labour Market 
 

 As some locked-down businesses began to reopen in April to July 2021 significant labour shortages 
have occurred in Devon across many sectors 

 Some sectors experiencing acute demand include tourism; hospitality; health and care (which had 
some shortages pre-covid); transport (especially HGV drivers) and skilled construction staff. The 
voluntary sector has in some instances also reported a shortage of volunteers. Demand for goods 
and services appears to be bouncing back, but now with fewer people able to service those 
demands. 

 A variety of reasons have been given and these include especially furlough, but also higher levels of 
applications to study, or retrain; EU exit causing an interim lack of migrant workers; early 
retirements during covid lockdowns; high housing costs meaning people can’t afford to live near 
some jobs and people reprioritising their lives linked to covid lockdowns. 

 In the tourism sector recent evidence now points to over half of all businesses paying more for staff, 
but reducing their opening hours, with disgruntled customers sometimes being the outcome. A 
significant number of businesses report brisk business but the impact of previous lockdowns has 
impacted their net positions, with cash flow risk still looming and potential impacts on business 
survivability into 2022. 
 

Just About Managing and pay 
 

 Between 2019 and 2020 average pay for the lowest 20% of earners nationally rose slightly. In 
Devon outside of South Hams and West Devon it fell significantly and was already lower than 
nationally pre pandemic (in Devon as a whole for this group it fell by 6%). Unsure yet as to whether 
these impacts are temporary, but even temporary impacts could mean lower income households 
suffering from more debt issues.   

 Average workplace pay rates in Devon were around 82.7% of the UK in 2020, but lower still in some 
parts of the County (West Devon just 71.9% of UK) 

 Data on average pay rates overall in Devon were very volatile in 2020 showing a lot of changes to 
the labour market, but no significant trend, although greater levels of working from home. 2021 and 
2022 data will be needed to ascertain any longer-term trends. 

 On average, pay for freelancers during 2020 took a significant hit 

 SW House prices up 17% in a year – competition for housing, especially at higher priced end and in 
rural/coastal areas 

 Staycation boom causing rental property to come off the market and be let by Airbnb - renters who 
have to move have been hit, especially in traditional holiday areas. Unsure yet as to whether these 
impacts are temporary.  

 Anecdotal evidence (so far) of highly significant increases (doubling in some instances) in Food 
Bank usage in Devon during the pandemic lockdown periods and more widely worry about food 
insecurity, especially among those with children 

 
High Streets 
 

 All high streets in Devon were impacted by significant temporary business closures during the first 
2020 lockdown 

 Since then there has been a significant shift in spend patterns, with many of the smaller market and 
coastal towns that are focused on independent stores holding up best, buoyed in part by the 
resumption of the holiday trade; higher numbers of people working from home and shopping more 
locally and retirees, many of whose incomes have held up feeling more confident in venturing out 
and spending again. 

 The retail businesses most impacted by the pandemic have tended to be national and international 
chain stores that operate on business models with tight margins and often occupy more expensive 
town and city centre retail units.   

 Retail vacancy rates remain an issue, but in most Devon towns and cities are below the national 
average (those remaining above at most recent survey were Cullompton, Ilfracombe, Axminster, 
Barnstaple and Exeter City Centre) 

 

Page 36



3 
 

Other challenges 
 
Short term 
 

 Tackling immediate labour market shortages. With tourism in particular we have a potentially 
booming sector this year, but with the ‘pingdemic’, labour shortages generally, particularly of skilled 
staff that means that many businesses are struggling to meet demand which is impacting negatively 
on the visitor experience.  

 Linked to the labour market shortages is the need to keep upskilling/reskilling people as the labour 
market changes post-pandemic and to help get people into the vacant roles 

 Creating career pathways, so that jobs become a route to better paid, better skilled posts 

 House prices and lack of rental accommodation in many tourist areas is impacting on recruitment  

 Monitoring and tackling where necessary business cash flow problems, which may become an issue 
later in the autumn as the tourist industry slows down and impacts in the supply and service chains. 

 The pandemic has impacted on people who are “just about managing” in Devon (where we have 
greater concentrations than nationally). It is likely to mean they are more indebted now and many in 
part time and/or low paid employment. 

 
Medium term 
 

 Some of the above points, plus tackling the issues we have always had in Devon such as creating 
more productive, more highly skilled and highly paid work across the whole of Devon, plus attracting 
and creating new businesses in Devon 

 Upskilling and reskilling our workforce for the future, including more digital, engineering, 
construction, and renewable energy skills 

 Continuing to recruit and create career pathways in our health and social care workforce, as 
demand will continue in our older than average population. We already had staff shortages in much 
of the care sector pre-pandemic and this has been exacerbated 

 Issues on high street support, that was already starting to be a problem pre pandemic – gaps due to 
chain store closures and what we do with them to ensure vibrant town and city centres. 
 

Team Devon Recovery 
 
A wide range of activity is underway and planned to support Devon’s recovery from the impact of the 
pandemic. The following are a few examples of work led by the County Council’s Economy service often in 
collaboration with District Council colleagues and other partners. 
 
Devon Work Hubs  
 
Awarded £350,000 of Recovery Funding to support flexible workspace provision and awareness across the 
County in areas hard-hit by the pandemic.  A total of £200,000 of the funding will support the development 
of 3-new work hubs, digital and infrastructure upgrades in existing work hubs that are yet to join the Devon 
Work Hubs network and support a brand refresh and web-presence upgrade.  
 
A further £150,000 of funding was awarded to pilot a hybrid model of accommodation and enterprise space 
called Live/Work.  Traditionally successful in global cities and larger conurbations, this investment will be 
used to support demand studies in 3-specific locations and match-fund developers in support of capital 
expenditure.  
 
Natural Capital Challenge Fund  
 
£300,000 has been provided to deliver a Natural Capital Challenge Fund. The fund will support the creation 
of more businesses, jobs and accredited training – which in turn will allow this new economic sector to 
flourish and help with Devon’s aspiration of becoming a leader in clean growth. Through this Natural Capital 
Challenge Fund programme the aim is for six projects to be directly supported with 30 apprenticeships, or 
people upskilled and 3,000 tons of CO2 saved. 
 

Page 37

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.devon.gov.uk%2Feconomy%2Fnatural-capital-challenge-fund%2F&data=04%7C01%7Cmelanie.sealey%40devon.gov.uk%7C87c7f8ed390d49c74b8908d951a1e126%7C8da13783cb68443fbb4b997f77fd5bfb%7C0%7C0%7C637630577963997629%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=WlqM1AlhX9iFYfBp2gC4vbIiVbn7W1V4P7YsO0kroME%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.devon.gov.uk%2Feconomy%2Fnatural-capital-challenge-fund%2F&data=04%7C01%7Cmelanie.sealey%40devon.gov.uk%7C87c7f8ed390d49c74b8908d951a1e126%7C8da13783cb68443fbb4b997f77fd5bfb%7C0%7C0%7C637630577963997629%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=WlqM1AlhX9iFYfBp2gC4vbIiVbn7W1V4P7YsO0kroME%3D&reserved=0


4 
 

Community Energy Challenge Fund  
 
This £200,000 fund will support the growth of this sector by workforce upskilling and encouraging new 
participants and businesses into this exciting new arena.  
 
Brownfield Land Renewal Fund / Self and Custom Build Fund  
 
The Torbay and Devon One Public Estate partnership, led by the County Council’s Economy service, has 
developed a £9 million funding bid to Government which if successful would create 643 new homes. The 
bid covers Exeter, Torbay, North Devon, and Teignbridge and will allow further home building to be 
undertaken in areas of Devon where housing is a key challenge for local communities.  
 
Future Farming Resilience Fund 
 
DEFRA has awarded Devon County Council £731,000 to deliver a programme to support 773 farms across 
the Heart of the South West LEP region. The objective of the programme is to assist farmers and land 
managers to build resilience and help them prepare for, and adjust to, the Agricultural Transition Plan 2021. 
 
Open Up to Skills programme 
 
The £450,000 ‘Open Up to Skills’ programme will provide training opportunities for those individuals and 
companies within the hospitality, tourism, leisure and retail sectors who have been most adversely affected 
by the pandemic. Supporting 700 additional training places between October 2021 and March 2023, the 
project will support 300 businesses to upskill their staff or support redeployment across the County.  
 
Made in Devon 
 
The scheme supports Devon businesses who contribute to their local economy and communities, by 
helping them to grow their customer base and make them more resilient. The scheme was launched in 
September 2020 with an initial offer of free membership for the first twelve months to fifty local 
businesses.   The Made in Devon initiative also aims to support the continued growth of consumer trends 
towards ‘buying local’ and establish Devon as a leading region for high quality products and services.  
 
Apprenticeships 

             
A service level agreement is in place with our Devon and Cornwall Training Provider lead for 12 months to 
deliver specific Apprenticeships focussed work for Devon.  Activity has included information and training 
sessions on the world of Apprenticeships to the virtual school and the Children’s Social Care Personal 
Adviser team to increase their knowledge of Apprenticeships as a post 16 option. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Devon County Council 
Economy Service Briefing 
August, 2021 

Page 38

http://www.madeindevon.org.uk/

	Agenda
	2 Notes of the Previous Board Meeting - 15 April 2021
	8 Devons Economy - Recovery and Impacts
	Devon Economy Briefing summary August 2021


